The economic case for reducing gender gaps in the labour market

Gala Díaz Langou - Caterina Brest López



or





00



Table of contents

Executive Summary			
About5			
Introduction			
Gender stereotypes: common challenges around the globe12			
Economic benefits of closing gender gaps14			
Channels14			
Empirical evidence15			
Policies			
Gender stereotypes and the sexual division of labour23			
Labour market			
The care economy			
Education and training28			
Conclusion			
Bibliography			
About the authors			

Table of figures

Figure 1. Global Gender Gap Index	8
Figure 2. International labour market map for the average global organization	9
Figure 3. Gender Gap Index by region	9
Figure 4. Selected countries: labour force participation rate, 2016	
Figure 5. Selected countries: average usual weekly hours, 2016	
Figure 6. Time spent on unpaid care work by gender and region, 2014	
Figure 7. Constraints for women, 2020 forecast in millions	14
Figure 8. Global stock performance: companies market cap > USD 10 billion	
Figure 9. Economic growth and gender inequality	
Figure 10. Human development and gender inequality	
Figure 11. Incremental 2025 GDP to 2025 BAU scenario (%)	

Гable 1. Gender gap, by job family	11
Fable 2. Gender gap, by job family	12

Executive Summary

Female labour force participation rate remains 27 percentage points lower than male and, according to the 2017 World Economic Forum's Global Gender Gap Report, if the current trend continues it could take another 100 years to close the overall global gender gap. Still, closing participation rates is just the first stepping stone to achieving a more egalitarian labour market. Women also face severe segregation, both occupationally (while some occupations are considered 'female', such as domestic service; others have very low female participation, as it is the case of Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematical fields) and vertically (women's participation declines as one climbs up the career ladder). Additionally, they earn, on average, less than men do and they carry out a heavier burden of unpaid work.

This paper seeks to make the case that reducing gender inequality is not just a human right but also a human development and economic concern. In fact, we present some findings that help to argue that closing gender gaps is beneficial not just from a macroeconomic perspective but also at the micro level, as it has proved to be more profitable for companies.

McKinsey Global Institute (2015) affirms that if female labour force participation were equal to men's, this could input an extra \$28 trillion into the annual global GDP by 2025, compared to a 'business-as-usual' (BAU) scenario (in which gender gaps remain unchanged). More strikingly, GDP under the scenario in which women participate in the same way men do —the 'full potential' scenario— could be up to 60% higher than GDP under the BAU scenario. This is most significant in emerging economies since gaps between men and women are widest. Besides, another benefit of closing gender gaps for emerging and developing regions is the positive effect that it can have on both current and future poverty reduction rates (Sinha et al., 2007).

At the company level, the International Finance Corporation (2015) has found that better employment opportunities for women can contribute to increased profitability and productivity, and other studies, such as that of Credit Suisse Research Institute (2014), argue that higher female participation in boards or managerial positions within a firm positively impacts on their performance. Furthermore, fostering female participation seems to also translate into higher employee productivity, since Cuberes & Teignier-Baqué (2011b) estimate that male-dominated industries in many developing countries could increase their productivity between 3% and 25% simply by increasing female labour force participation.

Moreover, in this paper, we review existing policies that aim —or have the potential —to tackle these problems in order to contribute to the design of policies that can bridge gender gaps. While some policies have a long-term goal of deconstructing cultural beliefs which cause gender inequality and the sexual division of labour, others have more specific and short-term goals to increase female labour force participation.

About

The policy brief on "The economic case for reducing gender gaps in the labour market" was developed by CIPPEC, the Centre for the Implementation of Public Policies promoting Equity and Growth, an independent non-profit organization that works on better building public policies in Argentina. During 2018, CIPPEC acted as Co-Chair of Think20 (T20), together with CARI, and as knowledge partner of Women20 (W20) during the Argentine G20 presidency.

W20 is a transnational network that brings together women leaders of civil society, businesses, entrepreneurship ventures and think tanks. The main goal of W20 is to influence the agenda of the decision-making bodies of the G20, with a view to impacting public policies in order to increase women's participation in the economies and societies of their countries. W20 Argentina's four focus topics are Labour Inclusion, Digital Inclusion, Financial Inclusion and Rural Development.

As W20 Argentina's strategic implementation partner the Emerging Market Sustainability Dialogues (EMSD), a project of Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), commissioned by the Federal Ministry for Development and Economic Cooperation (BMZ), supported the research for this policy brief.

Further information on the project partners can be found online, on the W20 Argentina, CIPPEC, and EMSD websites.

Introduction

Even though female labour force participation has risen in the last decades, its rate of progress has slowed down and remains almost 27 percentage points lower than male labour force participation. Worse still, it is not expected to improve in the short term (International Labour Organization, 2017) and according to the 2017 World Economic Forum's Global Gender Gap Report if the current trend continues it could take 100 years to close the overall global gender gap.

From a human right's perspective, there is little question about the fact that mandate on closing gender gaps is the right thing to do. Over the last years, a growing body of literature has argued that reducing gender inequality is also economically beneficial. From both microeconomic and aggregate perspective, encouraging female participation and improving women's conditions and possibilities in the job market can yield enormous economic returns.

Booz & Company (2012) estimate that the number of women between the ages of 20 and 65 that could potentially participate more fully in the mainstream global economy is expected to grow to 1 billion in the following decade. This means that women are poised to play a significant role in the global economy and especially in emerging economies which is the greatest source of untapped potential as it accounts for 94% of those women.

There exists a vast amount of literature on the mechanisms through which gender labour gaps may affect economic performance. At the aggregate level, these mechanisms include: the underutilisation of talent associated to women's relative lower participation in the labour markets (Booz & Company, 2012), underinvestment in women's human capital (Blackden, Canagarajah, Klasen, & Lawson, 2006) and the inefficiency and hampering of economic growth due to the artificial restriction posed on the pool of talent, among others.

At the company level, the International Finance Corporation (2015) has found that better employment opportunities for women contributes to increased profitability and productivity. Activities which have been identified to support this include: an expansion in the pool of candidates and talents for jobs, reduction of staff turnover and absenteeism, increase in productivity and innovation and greater insight into consumer preferences, as in the majority of cases women are those who influence purchasing decisions.

Along these lines, a group of studies has analysed how the gender composition in boards or managerial positions within a firm can impact on their performance. The Credit Suisse Research Institute (2014) found that between 2005 and 2014, large companies (i.e. with market capitalisation greater than USD 10 billion), whose managing boards had a higher-than-average percentage of women consistently outperformed, in terms of stock market performance, companies with fewer-than-average percentage of women in managerial positions.

From an aggregate point of view, a meta-analysis carried out by CIPPEC shows that gender equality is associated both with boosting human development and faster economic growth. This is supported by the McKinsey Global Institute (2015) which affirms that if female labour force participation were equal to men's, this could input an extra \$28 trillion into the annual global GDP by 2025, compared to a business-as-usual scenario. Interestingly enough, it is in the developing world where the highest potential benefits are expected. According to the World Bank, investing in girls' education would lead to an increase in the lifetime earnings of today's cohort of girls equivalent to about 54% to 68% of countries' GDP. In other words, an increase in annual GDP growth rates of about 1.5% (World Economic Forum, 2017).

Based on the vast amount of literature on the topic, both empirical and theoretical, this paper seeks to make the case that reducing gender inequality is not just a human right but also a human development and economic concern. In fact, it is argued that closing gender gaps is beneficial not just from a macroeconomic perspective but also at the micro level as it has proved to be more profitable for companies.

To achieve gender equality, it is crucial to design policies that tackle the problems women face both in accessing the labour market and advancing up the career ladder. As a first step towards designing these policies, this paper reviews existing policies and groups them according to the problematic they seek to address. For example, some policies reviewed are designed to deconstruct cultural representations and the sexual division of labour, whilst others aim to remove obstacles to entering the labour market, re-distribute unpaid work and bridge educational gaps.

Hence, the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents evidence on the existing gender gaps and its different angles. Section 3 reviews the numerous obstacles to female empowerment. Section 4 analyses the mechanisms through which gender equality can foster economic growth and presents evidence and studies that argue that there exist, in fact, benefits both from a microeconomic and an aggregate perspective. Section 5 reviews policies aimed at reducing gender inequality. Finally, section 6 presents the conclusions.

We are still nowhere near gender equality

Gender gaps in the labour market remain one of the most pressing global challenges. Although female labour force participation has risen during the last decades, it is still almost 27 percentage points lower than male labour force participation and this rate is not expected to improve in the short term (International Labour Organization, 2017). In fact, female participation rate has been stagnating in recent years, casting doubts on the future tendency of this phenomenon and the reduction of gender gaps in the labour market. It must also be considered that participation rate is not the only measure of gender inequality as there are other obstacles to gender inequality that need to be taken into account such as the type and quality of job women are able to obtain.

While gender gaps are worrisome per se, it is the slow rate of progress that is most shocking. According to the 2017 World Economic Forum's Global Gender Gap Report, the situation of women has worsened for the second consecutive year. If the current trend continues, the overall global gender gap will only be closed in 100 years and economic gender equality will not be achieved for at least another 217 years.

As demonstrated in **Figure 1**, while gender gaps in education and health are small on average (with women outperforming men in some countries), economic and political participation remains highly unequal.

Figure 1. Global Gender Gap Index (2017)



Source: The Global Gender Gap Report, WEF (2017)

Entrepreneurial world is no different. According to a study by Noland, Moran, & Kotschwar (2016), it was found from surveyed companies that nearly a third had no women at all in either board or C-suite positions, 60% had no female board members, 50% had no female top executives and less than 5% had a female CEO. MERCER's report *When women thrive businesses thrive* (2014) highlights that while women continue to lag behind men in overall labour force participation, their situation worsens as we look at higher positions (see **Figure 2**).





Source: When women thrive businesses thrive, MERCER (2014)





Source: The Global Gender Gap Report, WEF (2017)

As demonstrated by **Figure 3**, Western European countries are closer to reaching gender equality.

Focusing on the labour market, Citigroup (2017) points out that while women represent roughly 50% of working age population around the globe, female labour force participation (LFP) is consistently below that of men. In 2016, the OECD average female LFP stood at 64%, 16pp lower than male, and in some countries, such as Italy, the gap was bigger than 20pp (see **Figure 4**).



Figure 4. Selected countries: labour force participation rate (2016)

Note: Gap is women minus men. Source: Citigroup (2017)

Even when women participate in the labour market, they tend to work fewer hours on average than men (see **Figure 5**). This is because they are likelier to work part-time or because even when working in a full time job they work for fewer hours (Citigroup, 2017).





Note: For total dependent employment. Gap is women minus men. Source: Citigroup (2017)

One of the main deterrents of female LFP is unpaid domestic work, as women undertake a much larger proportion of these activities relative, especially those related to childrearing. This constitutes a significant obstacle to LFP since it means hours of work at home but which is not considered as such and therefore not paid. On average, in OECD countries women spend 271 minutes per day doing unpaid work compared to only 138 minutes for men. Yet there are large heterogeneities across countries and regions, and the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region has been found to be the one with the largest gap (see **Figure 6**).



Figure 6. Time spent on unpaid care work by gender and region, 2014

Note: This chart represents the average hours per day spent on unpaid care work by women and men in regions of the world: Middle East and North Africa (MENA), South Asia (SA), Eastern Europe and Central Asia (ECA), Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC), East Asia and Pacific (EAP), Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) and North America (NA). Source: Citigroup (2017)

Typically, this sexual division of labour within families is intrinsically linked to social stereotypes which associate certain types of activities to women and others to men. This unequal distribution also extends outside of family sphere into all aspects of society. The most prominent example is that only 32% of graduates globally in Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) are women, while they constitute 54% of employees in Office and Administrative jobs (see **Table 1**). This is most worrying considering the potential changes in the labour market in the face of the fourth industrial revolution. More specifically, while Office and Administrative jobs are more likely to be automatized, jobs in STEM fields may develop and grow even further, thus widening the gender gap even further.

Job Family	Share of women
Architecture and Engineering	11%
Arts, Design, Entertainment Sports and Media	48%
Business and Financial Operations	43%
Computer and Mathematical	23%
Construction and Extraction	10%
Installation and Maintenance	8%
Management	25%
Manufacturing and Production	20%
Office and Administrative	54%
Sales and Related	41%

Source: World Economic Forum (2016)

Nota: The World Economic Forum (WEF) survey collects information from various countries and regions: La encuesta del Foro Económico Mundial (WEF) sobre la cual se basa su trabajo abarca varios países y regiones: Association of Southeast Asian Nations, Australia, Brazil, China, France, Germany,the Gulf Cooperation Council, India, Italy, Japan, Mexico, South Africa, Turkey, United Kindgom and United States.

Another disadvantage that women face, once they enter the labour market, is the wage gap as it is a common fact that, on average, women earn less than men, albeit in different magnitude in each sector (see **Table 2**). For this reason, this gap shrinks as one controls for sector and the same occurs if we control for qualification and most importantly for hours worked, implying that these factors explain a great portion of the existing wage gap.

Job Family	Gender wage gap
Architecture and Engineering	27%
Arts, Design, Entertainment Sports and Media	12%
Business and Financial Operations	30%
Computer and Mathematical	28%
Construction and Extraction	48%
Installation and Maintenance	24%
Management	34%
Manufacturing and Production	32%
Office and Administrative	36%
Sales and Related	35%

Table 2. Gender gap, by job family (2016)

Source: World Economic Forum (2016).

Gender stereotypes: common challenges around the globe

As demonstrated, gender inequalities adopt several forms and a common trend that stands out is that these gaps persist even in countries where women are, on average, at least as educated as men. Considering all this information, why is it that even in developed countries, women's LFP is still significantly lower than men's? In order to design policies that address this fundamental issue, it is important to understand the obstacles that women face, not only in accessing the labour market but also in climbing up the career ladder.

A review of the literature reveals the existence of several obstacles to female empowerment, yet cultural representations seem to play a key role. The patriarchal culture determines a sexual division of labour that impacts not only on women's decision to participate in the labour market but also on their labour trajectories and access to higher positions.

Following the study by Booz & Company (2012), women's disadvantaged situation can be grouped into two broad categories: women are either (1) *not prepared* or (2) *not enabled* to join the workforce. The first refers to not having received sufficient education and qualifications, whereas the second refers to not having enough social and political support to engage with the labour market. It may well be the case that women are neither prepared nor enabled to join the workforce.

One of the main reasons affecting women *not being enabled* is related to family responsibilities and the care economy. A consequence of the sexual division of labour and existence of gender roles is that women are typically conceived as naturally responsible for domestic issues and thus carry out a heavier burden of unpaid work than men.

Hence, the costs associated with the conciliation of family life with work – both in terms of money and time- represent a major barrier not only to women's access to the labour market but also to their subsequent participation. Thus, they end up trapped in what the literature defines as 'sticky floors', which are women that have scarce LFP or that work in precarious conditions, such as in domestic service¹ (ONU MUJERES, 2017).

Furthermore, motherhood can cause a disruption in women's careers, typically during their fertility peak. This can result in a professional gap crucial to obtaining promotions and, most troublesome, in a reduction in their responsibilities and dedication to the workplace as they take on an increased workload at home. Therefore, their way up the career ladder might be truncated, leaving women trapped in positions of lesser hierarchal status, defined by literature as 'broken ladders' (ONU MUJERES, 2017).

Gender roles along with a sexual division of labour not only hinder women's participation in the labour market but also contribute to the segregation of those who do enter it. This segregation is twofold: occupational and vertical. The former refers to the fact that women tend to be concentrated in sectors that are catalogued as "female" (i.e. education, health or domestic services) while being significantly underrepresented in more male-dominated sectors. This is typically called 'Glass walls' (ONU MUJERES, 2017). To make things worse, typically femaledominated sectors exhibit average wages that are lower than those of male-dominated sectors. This is the case, for example, of domestic service, in which women represent as much as 83% of all domestic workers and which on average exhibits one of the lowest wages in the global economy (ILO, 2013).

Vertical segregation refers to women's difficulties in reaching leadership and decisionmaking positions, both in the public and private sector. Following the architectonic metaphors (Bruckmüller, Ryan, Haslam, & Peters, 2013), women in this situation face so-called 'Glass ceilings'. In this light, women come across many obstacles caused by the patriarchal culture and gender stereotypes deeply rooted in society. Some companies are reluctant to give women with children job opportunities that involve high stress levels or frequent travelling. This is typically related to the recurring idea that women's role in domestic work affects negatively their performance and most importantly raises labour costs, which does not seem to have an empirical validation as Todaro, Godoy, & Abramo (2002) argue.

Perhaps as a perverse consequence of the lack of enablement, or perhaps as a convenient justification for it, the other big deficiency is that women are *not prepared*. Although education is the dimension in which the world is closest to achieving gender parity according to the World Economic Forum (2017) this hides several heterogeneities. Apart from obvious regional variations, women's situation differs to men's at different stages of the education cycle. Enrolment rates are only the first stepping stone to achieving gender equality in education as it is also the educational choices of girls and boys that affect the previously mentioned occupational segregation. The predetermined set of alternatives and the classification of certain skills and characteristics as either "masculine" or "feminine" can alter children's perceptions of their own abilities from early childhood and ultimately undermining their performance (Shapiro & Williams, 2012).

In this vein, absence of female archetypes also plays a key role both in occupational and vertical segregation. The scarcity of women in STEM fields, or as entrepreneurs and directors

¹ This is typically the case for less educated women or those who have lower income.

only perpetuates women's *status quo* in an increasingly segregated labour market. Similarly, the lack of mentoring and promotion of female leadership negatively affect women's career choice. In fact, as shown in Beaman, Duflo, Pande & Topalova (2012), (the lack of) female leadership influences adolescent girls' career aspirations and educational attainment.

Economic benefits of closing gender gaps

Channels

As described above, Booz & Company's (2012) characterisation of the constraints for women to realize their economic potential classifies women as (1) *not prepared*, (2) *not enabled* or (3) *neither prepared nor enabled*. This way, their study concludes that, combining women in all three categories between the ages 20-65, in 2020 there will be around 865 million women that could potentially participate more fully in the mainstream global economy. Once again, it is in the emerging economies where gender inequality leaves an enormous potential to be exploited since these countries account for as much as 94% of those women (see **Figure 7**).



Figure 7. Constraints for women, 2020 forecast in millions

Source: Empowering the Third Billion Women and the world of work in 2012, Booz & Company (2012)

Moreover, these numbers are expected to grow to 1 billion in the following decade, which means that women are poised to play a role in the global economy as significant as that of the billion-plus populations of India and China. In this light, there is a vast literature on the mechanisms through which gender labour gaps may affect economic performance. At the aggregate level, we find there are three main channels.

The first channel, observed in Booz & Company's (2012) study, is the underutilisation of talent due to women's relative lower participation in the labour markets. An increase in their participation could be achieved, for instance, by exploiting the economies of scale associated with

extending the supply of day care. This would imply an increase of the potential GDP and income per capita (ILO, 2017b; McKinsey, 2015; OECD, 2012).

A second channel operates through underinvestment in women's human capital. Blackden et al. (2006) argue that gender inequality in education and the labour market reduces both the actual and future stock of human capital. Firstly, previous sub-investment in women's human capital affects present stock of human capital. Assuming the same distribution of abilities for girls and boys, the future stock of capital is endangered by the wage gap since it creates more incentives for parents to invest in men's education. Therefore, if it weren't for the wage gap, the future stock of capital of women would be much higher.

Finally, the combination of underutilizing women's talent and underinvesting in their human capital lead us to the third channel: efficiency. Given the disadvantaged position of qualified women in labour markets, firms would rather forgo hiring female workers with a high potential for productivity to hire male workers instead, even when relatively less productive. This restriction imposed on the talent pool creates inefficiencies and hampers economic growth (Blackden et al., 2006). A similar argument can be made about entrepreneurial talent, which is arguably distributed randomly amongst individuals regardless of their gender. If women have fewer chances of reaching managerial positions, the speed of innovation and technology adoption in the economy shrinks leading to a decline in aggregate productivity and GDP per capita(Esteve-Volart, 2009).

Another literature stream has pointed out alternative mechanisms through which gender equality can have a positive economic impact. One is through its effect on the next generation's stock of human capital. Sen (1990) and Klasen & Wink (2003) argue that asymmetries in employment and income undermine 'women's bargaining power within the household. As evidence show, women are more likely to invest in their children's wellbeing than men (Duflo, 2003; Duflo, 2012), their relatively lower bargaining power may lead to underinvestment in children's education and health². Similarly, Slotsky (2006) argues that increasing women's decision-making power favours aggregate productivity in the long run, as they seem to have a stronger preference towards goods and services that contribute to building up children's human capital (de Hoop et al., 2017).

Finally, the relationship between women's education and fertility rate has been stressed in literature as having an impact on growth. Higher levels in female education renders women's time more expensive, incentivizing families to have fewer children so that they can spend more on each child. This pattern, on average, leads to a higher income per capita (Lagerlof, 2003).

Empirical evidence

Female talent remains one of the most under-utilized business resources, either squandered through lack of progression or untapped from the onset. For this reason, and in line with the mechanisms outlined in the previous section, growing evidence has documented and quantified the economic returns of reducing gender gaps in the economy. Part of the literature is devoted to

² It is noteworthy that Duflo (2012) finds a large impact on the anthropometric status of girls while having little effect on boys, which suggests that the opportunity cost of women's relative lower bargaining power is bigger when it comes to girls in comparison to boys.

studying the effects at an aggregate level, whereas there is also growing evidence on the microeconomic returns of gender equality (i.e. at the firm level).

At the firm level

At the company level, as the IFC report (2015) finds, better employment opportunities for women can also contribute to increased profitability and productivity. Barney (1990) suggests that sources of sustained competitive advantage are firm resources that are valuable, rare, imperfectly imitable and non-substitutable. Hence, gender diversity as a source of intangible and socially complex resources can provide a firm with a sustained competitive advantage.

In particular, increasing attention has been devoted to the relationship between diversity and innovation. As Quintana-García & Benavides-Velasco (2008) argue, different points of view, educational backgrounds and experiences may facilitate complex problem-solving, and the generation of new ideas. This is supported by EC (2008) which states that the existence of dissimilar mind-sets can enhance flexibility, creativity and the ability to innovate.

A group of studies has analysed how different aspects of the gender composition in boards or managerial positions within a firm impact on their performance. To begin with, higher female participation on boards seems to be associated with better financial performance across several indicators. The Credit Suisse Research Institute (2014) found that between 2005 and 2014, large companies (i.e. with market capitalisation greater than USD 10 billion), whose managing boards had a higher-than-average percentage of women consistently outperformed, in terms of stock market performance, companies with fewer-than-average percentage of women in managerial positions (see **Figure 8**).



Figure 8. Global stock performance: companies market cap > USD 10 billion (2006-2014)

Source: The CS Gender 300: Women in Senior Management, Credit Suisse Research Institute (2014)

Similarly, IFC (2015) shows that in Jordan, in 2012, the average return on assets (ROA) of publicly listed companies without female representation was 0.99 compared with 3.03 for companies with at least one woman on the board.

A study by Catalyst (2011) reveals that companies listed in *Fortune 500* with a higher representation of women in senior management positions financially outperform companies with proportionally fewer women at the top. Similarly, Dezsö & Ross (2012), using data of 1500 S&P firms, find that female representation in top management creates informational and social diversity which improves companies' performance. It also improves managerial task performance throughout the firm, especially for women in lower-level managerial positions. Nonetheless, this study was found to be most statistically significant with firms whose strategy focuses strongly on innovation.

Noland et al. (2016) also found that companies with at least 30% of women at C-suite level can add as much as 6% to their net profits. As a matter of fact, when it comes to leadership positions, companies with top quartile representation of women in executive committees have performed better than companies with no women at the top – by some estimates as much as a 47% premium on average return on equity (WEF, 2016).

Furthermore, fostering female participation seems to also translate into higher employee productivity, and this in turn could have an effect on economic growth. Cuberes & Teignier-Baqué (2011) shows that excluding women from managerial positions has significant effects on resource allocation and aggregate productivity, and that excluding them from employment has large effects on income per capita. In this regard, Cuberes & Teignier-Baqué (2011b) estimate that male-dominated industries in many developing countries could increase their productivity between 3% and 25% simply by increasing female labour force participation.

In this light, Ali et al. (2011) test several hypotheses regarding the relationship between gender diversity and performance. Their results demonstrate an overall positive correlation between gender diversity and employee productivity, yet this only applied with a time lag of five years between diversity and employee productivity. These findings are in line with the resource-based view. Resources associated with organisational gender diversity such as market insight, creativity, innovation and improved problem-solving, take at least two years to impact employee productivity.

Moreover, Ali et al. (2011) also test the differentiated effects of gender diversity on productivity across sectors. They found that while the negative effects of having employees belonging to different social identities —such as those predicted by self-categorisation theories—were similar both in the services and manufacturing industries, the positive part of the performance curve was steeper in the services industry. These findings suggest that gender-diverse workforces might need to be handled differently depending on the industry to capitalize on the benefits of gender diversity.

A less discussed and researched aspect of gender diversity is its relationship with innovation (see for instance, Quintana-García & Benavides-Velasco (2008); Dosi (1988); Zahra & George (2002); Van der Vegt & Janssen (2003)). In this literature, employee diversity is thought to have a positive effect on innovation. Similarly, Østergaard et al. (2011) analysed information they had on 1648 different Danish firms obtained from the DISKO innovation survey. Their analysis showed that gender diversity is essential on lower hierarchical levels as well as on the management and technology teams for firms to achieve their best performance in innovation. Conversely, some evidence suggests that gender diversity has no significant effect on task conflict and performance (Pelled, Eisenhardt, & Xin (1999) and Chowdhury (2005)). Yet, these studies do not take into account that the nature of the task is crucial in determining the interaction between team composition and effectiveness. Fenwick & Neal (2001) aimed to disentangle this question using a sample of students. In their study, they compared the effect of gender diversity within groups performing managerial activities or individual work that required submitting written group reports. It turned out that the number of women in the group had a significant effect for

the former groups while had none for the latter. In their view, this is possibly related to the fact that managerial activities required more intra-group interaction than the written group reports which entailed more individual work.

Similarly, Díaz-García, González-Moreno, & Jose Sáez-Martínez (2013) study how gender diversity within R&D teams impacts innovation. Using data from the Technological Innovation Panel (PITEC) they found a significant positive relationship between gender diversity in R&D groups and radical innovation³.

The above-mentioned studies have a counterpart in the results of the European Business Test Panel (EBTP) survey. According to the study, the amount of companies that recognized the relationship between diversity and innovation increased from 26% in 2005 to 63% in 2008 (EC, 2008). However, the survey also revealed that there are several obstacles for companies to implement Equality and Diversity (E&D) policies and/or targets, namely, lack of leadership commitment, discriminatory attitudes and behaviours amongst staff and lack of information and awareness were at the top the list.

As a whole, this evidence highlights the economic benefits of reducing gender gaps in leadership positions. However, to achieve this, it is crucial to develop and sustain high-performing female talent and to create the necessary conditions for these talented women to progress up the career ladder. In this context, female middle managers constitute a key element of any successful gender diversity strategy since they represent an important source of potential leadership talent (Alexander Mann Solutions, 2013).

Although most of the previous studies show correlations, and not necessarily causation, the exhaustive literature on the topic has already inspired many companies around the world to foster women's participation and put forward the business-case for reducing the gender gap.

At the aggregate level

As Citigroup (2017) points out, female empowerment is not only a human right but also a human development concern. Research carried out by CIPPEC demonstrates that gender equality is associated with boosting both human development and economic growth (see **Figures 9** and **10**).

³ Radical innovation refers to those that involve drastic changes, as opposed to incremental innovations which typically constitute improvements in products or production processes.





Source: CIPPEC on United Nations Development Programme 2015 Human Development Report and Penn World Table 9.0



Figure 10. Human development and gender inequality (2015)

Source: CIPPEC on United Nations Development Programme 2015 Human Development Report.

One strand of literature focuses on existing gaps in education. For instance, Dollar & Gatti (1999) study the 'direct' effect (by reducing the amount of human capital and restricting the pool of talent) of differential secondary school achievement on growth. A significant positive coefficient on female secondary attainment was found, even after controlling for fertility rates and instrumenting education with religious variables and civil liberties⁴. The sample was split according to countries' income and, interestingly, the results found that the more developed an economy is, the stronger the effect.

Other studies understand that promoting female education can positively affect economic growth through its impact on other indicators. This strand of literature argues that reducing the educational gender gap can reduce fertility levels(see Schultz (1997); Orazem & King (2007)), which in turn can lead to higher economic growth. Indeed, research on the relationship between fertility and level of income per capita goes back several decades, with Kuznets (1967) finding a positive correlation between population growth rate and income per capita. Several other studies followed Kuznets (1967) in studying the effect of population growth on income growth (see Kelley (1988); Kelley & Schmidt (2005); Bloom & Canning (2004)). However, it is worth noting that since fertility rate is an endogenous variable, most of these studies suffer from identification problems.

Existing research also looks at the impact of reducing employment gaps on economic growth. This literature typically views women's employment as a means of enhancing their bargaining power which may have a range of positive effects on growth: higher savings, more productive investments and, especially, higher investments in the health and education of their children, thus promoting the next generation's human capital. Accordingly, Klasen (2000) finds that increases in female labour force participation and formal-sector employment are associated with higher growth in a cross-country context. Knowles, Lorgelly & Owen (2002) also suggest that female education positively affects growth and potentially makes a greater contribution to labour productivity than male education given its indirect effects on measured output that are not captured by women's earnings⁵. Klasen & Lamanna (2009) posit that gender inequality in labour force participation (used as a proxy for gender gaps in employment) has a negative effect on economic growth.

Regarding gender gaps in employment, it is worth highlighting differences between men and women in entrepreneurship. As shown above, these gaps are still severe, even in developed countries, where the average incidence of females among employers is less than 30 percent (World Bank, 2001). Again, Cuberes & Teignier (2016) argue that gender gaps in entrepreneurship negatively affect both income and aggregate productivity, since they reduce the entrepreneur's average talent. According to their simulations, if all women are discriminated against managerial positions (and assuming equal distribution of talent across genders), the loss in output per worker could be up to almost 25% and the loss in worker's wage slightly higher. This negative impact is enhanced when incorporating out-of-necessity self-employment – i.e. agents who choose to be self-employed as they have no better option- in order to quantify the effects for a sample of developing countries. Their analysis then shows that albeit always negative, the effects of gender gaps in entrepreneurship vary across countries and regions (the largest income loss is in the Middle East and North Africa, followed by South Asia and Latin America and the Caribbean).

⁴ In their paper, they also analyze the determinants of gender inequality and they find that it is explained to a considerable extent by religious preferences, regional factors and civil freedom. For this reason, in order to deal with the endogeneity problem, they instrument education with these variables.

⁵ This indirect effects include the flow-on effects of higher output to higher physical capital investment.

Moreover, some studies simulate the impact of reducing gender gaps. McKinsey (2015) constructs an ideal future scenario where women participate in the economy identically to men and argue that this could inject an extra \$ 28 trillion to the annual global GDP by 2025, compared with a business-as-usual scenario. These numbers arise from closing different gaps: for instance, increasing female participation in the labour force to match male levels accounts for 54% in the increase of potential GDP. Closing the hours worked gap would generate 23% of the estimated incremental GDP. Additionally, as women tend to be overrepresented in lower-productivity sectors, shifting them to positions in higher-productivity sectors and pairing the distribution pattern of male workers would add another 23% to the total potential GDP increase. Given associated government revenue shares in GDP, the latter achievement could unlock an additional US\$1.4 trillion in global tax revenue, most of it (US\$940 billion) in emerging economies. This suggests that additional public investment into closing global gender gaps (ILO, 2017b) could in fact be self-financing.

Given that this scenario is unrealistic in the medium term, McKinsey's report evaluates more achievable scenarios. For example, if all countries matched their progress in terms of gender parity of the country with the best performance in the region, global GDP would increase by \$12 trillion in 2025. Likewise, the International Labour Organization estimates the potential gains in terms of global GDP could amount to \$5.3 trillion if all countries succeed in meeting the 2014 G20 target of 'reducing the gap between male and female participation rates by 25% by 2025 (ILO, 2017).

The differential effect of gender equality among countries is another important dimension to consider. Hakura, Hussain, Newiak, Thakoor & Yang (2016) suggest that the effect of gender equality on economic growth is positive and stronger in low income countries. Similarly, Klasen (2002), using panel regression analysis, found that educational gaps have a negative effect on economic growth, particularly in developing countries. Furthermore, this paper suggests that the effect is weaker in industrial countries. All these findings are consistent with Ramanayake & Ghosh (2017) who perform different estimations and yet obtain the same result in terms of gender equality and economic growth.

Reducing gender inequality is particularly relevant for developing regions. Given that they are the regions with the widest gap between men and women, they are those who would benefit the most from bridging that gap in terms of GDP opportunities. Based on a sample of a wide range of developing countries, the World Bank argues that investing in girls to complete their education at the same rate as boys can lead to an increase in lifetime earnings of today's cohort of girls equivalent to between 54% and 68% of countries' GDP. This corresponds to an increase in annual GDP growth rates of about 1.5% (World Economic Forum, 2017).

Moreover, ILO (2017) estimates that emerging economies would benefit the most from achieving this goal due to an increase of 4.8% in GDP, 6.2% in employment and 6.3% in the labour force. In addition, McKinsey (2015) argues that if women matched men in labour force participation, hours worked and sectorial distribution, defined as the 'full potential' scenario, the increase in GDP in emerging economies would be enormous. More specifically, GDP under the 'full potential' scenario could be up to 60% higher than GDP under the 'business-as-usual' (BAU) scenario (in which gender gaps remain unchanged). As demonstrated in Figure 11, this is particularly true for emerging and developing economies.

Figure 11. Incremental 2025 GDP to 2025 BAU scenario (%)



Source: McKinsey (2015)

It is worth noting that although for the sake of policy making, the effect of gender gaps in education and employment have largely been studied separately, they are in fact so intrinsically linked that it is difficult to isolate the effects of these two factors. In other words, it might well be the case that gender gaps in education lead to gender gaps in employment and vice versa. Hence, the studies mentioned so far, which treat gender gaps in education and employment separately, should be interpreted cautiously.

Another strand of the literature —although not as extensive— studies the potential effect of closing gender gaps on poverty reduction being Sinha, Raju & Morrison (2007) the principal survey conducted. This paper examines different empirical contributions on how fostering gender equality can have a positive impact on poverty through its effect on economic growth and access to health, education and labour market⁶ opportunities. According to this study, one of the mechanisms is straightforward: if women have better access to the labour market, this implies greater employment opportunities leading to a rise in current income, higher consumption expenditures and, therefore, short-term economic growth and a decline in current poverty levels. At the same time, increased female labour force participation and earnings can stimulate future economic growth and reduce future poverty through higher savings. Finally, gender equality affects the bargaining power of mothers, causing a positive impact on their children's well-being, future human capital accumulation, income poverty, productivity and economic growth.

Some studies which address this issue use a qualitative approach. This is the case of Siddique (1998) which assessed the impact of different gender initiatives on female well-being in Bangladesh. The paper shows that gender policies have been useful to reduce gender gaps but insufficient to close them. On the other hand, Chaudhry & Rahman (2009) study the impact of the educational gap on rural poverty in Pakistan. In this case, closing the educational gap had a positive impact on poverty and probability of being poor.

Quantitative approaches at a macroeconomic level have also been carried out. For instance, the World Bank Group (2001) used cross-country data on poverty and gender equality to discover a negative correlation between gender equality and poverty. This concurs with Sinha et al. (2007)'s findings and the most important stylized fact founded in this literature.

⁶This happens because of changing female power in household decisions.

Another point of discussion is the relationship between female-headed households and the probability of being chronically poor. Although, evidence on this topic is inconclusive, some studies based on data from specific countries corroborate this relationship. For example, Lawson, Mckay, & Okidi (2006), using data from Uganda- or Buvinic & Gupta (1997)- suggest that female-headed households have a higher probability of being persistently poor than male-headed household. On the contrary, Shaffer (1998), who analyses data from Guinea, affirms that in that country female-headed household are not necessarily more likely than male-headed household to be poor.

To conclude, the evidence suggests that gender equality is profitable from different economic outlooks (economic growth, productivity, current and intergenerational human capital accumulation and poverty) and this explains why, beyond a human rights perspective, it is primordial for policy to address gender gaps. However, the research that seeks to empirically validate these channels faces several limitations. More precisely, many studies have endogeneity, multicollinearity, omitted variables and unobserved heterogeneity problems, among others. These problems in turn make it harder to not only claim a causal relationship but also to identify the mechanisms through which gender gaps hinder economic growth. Nonetheless, some of the less sophisticated or ambitious approaches to the topic may provide more adequate policy advice and for this reason have been taken into account in this section.

Policies

Given all the evidence provided, there seems to be little room to question that reducing gender gaps reaps economic benefits. Hence, the next question is *how* can countries close these gaps and *how* can women participate and have the same opportunities as men do in the labour market. The answer lies in understanding the reasons why they do not participate equally. Policies that aim to successfully reduce gender gaps should seek to eliminate the obstacles women face. There already exist a number of policies and good practices which aim to resolve this topic, or which have the potential to do so, and in this paper we have grouped such policies according to their area of incidence.

Gender stereotypes and the sexual division of labour

A lesson learnt is that a factor that helps to deconstruct cultural manifestations of gender inequality is the public representation of models that defy stereotypes, both among women and men. Massive communication campaigns have a moderate impact on attitudes and an even lesser impact on prejudices, which although often unconscious, are still a useful instrument for policy making. For instance, several studies have shown that this kind of interventions had a significant effect on the decline of HIV prevalence in several nations promoting the use of condoms and changing attitudes towards sexual relationships (see Green, Halperin, Nantulya, & Hogle, 2006; LaCroix, Snyder, Huedo-Medina, & Johnson, 2014).

Kosunen, Asikainen, Gústafsdóttir, Haggrén, & Lång (2017) thus highlight the vital role played by the media in constructing, or deconstructing, gender equality. Experimental studies have shown that being exposed to sexist advertising negatively affects the levels of women's (and men's) satisfaction with respect to their own bodies and widens the gap between their selfperception and actual appearance compared to what they conceive as 'ideal' (Lavine, Sweeney, & Wagner, 1999). In a similar way, then, it is plausible that media affects career choices and the assignment of roles by promoting and reproducing gender stereotypes. Thus, initiatives that seek to regulate gender discriminatory advertisement, although framed in a 'cultural change' paradigm of medium to long term, have a relatively high potential for impact.

Labour market

Most existing public programs aimed at increasing labour participation lack a gender perspective. More room is needed to acknowledge the disadvantaged position of women in the job market and use tools that already exist to foster their integration into the labour market. However, it is important to consider the occupational segregation of women to avoid reproducing this pattern in program participation. Furthermore, international experience reveals the need to coordinate these programs with measures to address obstacles that may arise from the unequal distribution of care and domestic responsibilities, that if not dealt with, may further exclude women from the job market (Berniell, 2016).

In the long run, policies that aim to generate a role model effect may also contribute to breaking occupational segregation by encouraging women to aspire to work in sectors not traditionally associated as female and to question the stereotype of women as caregivers. One example of such policy is the implementation of quotas in the public sector — a strategy typically designed to break glass ceilings— since it can generate an indirect effect through its impact on the supply side of the labour market. A natural experiment in India demonstrates that quotas in public positions had an impact on teenagers' aspirations, career choices and time dedicated to housework through a successful use of the role model effect (Beaman et al., 2012).

On the other hand, policies which target the demand side of the job market are also crucial. For instance, employers need to be trained to carry out non-sexist recruitments. Based on recruitment posts present on on-line platforms in Argentina, there is no doubt that gender stereotypes in these processes are abundant. For example, when good appearance was requested, 93% of searches were directed to women. Additionally, 22% of posts exhibited explicit gender requirements and 82% of the searches used non-generic language (that is, asking for male engineers or female secretaries)⁷. Therefore, it is possible to establish patterns of parity in the hiring process and to develop open recruitment and selection processes both in the public and private sector. These should include neutral language in job searches, standardized and transparent tenders and interview questionnaires that are gender balanced. Selection judges should be from both sexes and be trained in gender parity to ensure that selection processes, designations and promotions are based exclusively on performance.

Likewise, there are interventions that try to remove personally identifiable information from the resumes of applicants or establish 'blind' recruiting during the selection process. These interventions were originally motivated by the use of blind auditions in symphony orchestras in the USA, which increased the probability of female musicians to go beyond the initial stage in the selection process by as much as 50% (Goldin & Rouse, 2000). Several organisations including Deloitte, HSBC, the BBC, powerhouse law firm Clifford Chance and cloud-storage firm Compose Inc. have put this system into practice⁸. Australia has also launched blind recruitment trials and the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) has shown impressive results from 2015 to 2016 by duplicating the proportion of women in senior positions. Nonetheless, recent impact assessments have shown that the initiative is not effective when there is a previous positive bias towards hiring women, since it then becomes neutralized by the introduction of blind recruitment and deidentification (Hiscox et al., 2017). This occurred when the Australian Public Service (APS) tried

⁷ See <u>https://www.cronista.com/negocios/Poca-informacion-y-abundantes-prejuicios-en-el-lenguaje-de-las-busquedas-laborales-20171009-0018.html</u>

⁸ See <u>https://www.fastcompany.com/3057631/how-blind-recruitment-works-and-why-you-should-consider</u>

to imitate the ABS's case. According to the study conducted by the Behavioural Economics Team of the Australian Government (BETA), the case of the APS was different since officers already tended to discriminate in favour of female and minority candidates and for this reason the initiative had the opposite effect desired.

Another problematic described earlier is that of *glass ceilings*, which refers to the challenges women face in making their way up the career ladder. To counter this, a commonly used policy is that of gender quotas. Norway was the first country to adopt compulsory gender quotas in 2008, after a three-year voluntary period beginning in 2005. The Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act imposes sanctions to companies that do not meet the 40% quota. Its launch was coupled with the creation of the Female Future Program, which involved the creation of databases with profiles of potential female candidates and training programs for future executives. Consequently, companies that fell under the initiative reached the required quota within the predetermined time-period and have succeeded in maintaining a high level of gender quotas: Spain (2007), France (2010), Iceland (2010), Italy (2011), Netherlands (2011), Belgium (2011) and Germany (2014). For example, in France, the introduction of gender quotas in the executive boards of public companies drove female participation from 16,1% in 2010 to 29,6% in 2014 (Credit Suisse Research Institute, 2014).

Another group of countries, including The United Kingdom, Sweden and Australia, have opted to foster female participation on boards on a voluntary basis by encouraging corporate initiatives that include gender diversity goals. For example, the United Kingdom's goal was to have 25% of women on boards and more transparent and public selection processes. In this context, companies that started out having, on average, a 12.5% female participation rate successfully reached the 25% goal by 2015.

Unfortunately, there is no consensus on whether a voluntary or compulsory approach to adopting gender quotas is most effective. The main reason is that, although the implementation of gender quotas as in Norway's case was successful as the minimum representation level was met, the share of women has not increased further. Moreover, even within boards, vertical sex segregation is still present as women continue to be underrepresented in most senior positions. Most problematic is the so-called 'Golden Skirts' phenomenon (Seierstad & Opsahl, 2011) which emerges when unexpected legislative mandates create a temporal shortage of skilled and qualified women available to take up such positions and only a selected few end up being chosen. In this case, it could be argued that the voluntary alternative, although functioning at a slower pace, can create a greater social awareness and become more deeply rooted in the entrepreneurship culture (Oswick & Noon, 2014).

This way, The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) fosters moving from compensatory measures –such as quotas- to actual political parity, a permanent principle to ensure equal gender representation. To this day, seven Latin-American countries have adopted gender parity laws. Nonetheless, this requires guaranteeing gender equity in the structure of political parties as they are the ones mobilizing candidates. Although women represent half the members of the party, female participation in government bodies or on lists of candidates is far from equal (IDEA & BID, 2015). It is therefore also vital to achieve a more egalitarian mode of working in parliament to achieve gender parity. Possible measures include: internal rules to generate more egalitarian working conditions, creating offices that help introduce a gender perspective at different stages of legislative work and guaranteeing the designation of women among the authorities of the chambers and commissions (Krook & Zetterberg, 2014).

The care economy

As previously mentioned, one of the main reasons why women are *not enabled* to participate more fully in the global economy is the sexual division of labour which considers women as naturally responsible for domestic issues and caregiving. Women are generally forced to conciliate family life with work which represents a major barrier not only to women's access to the labour market but also to their subsequent participation.

Policies concerning the care economy can be grouped into two broad categories. On the one hand, there are those that aim to defeminize housework and child rearing, but these can only aspire to have a medium to long term effect. On the other hand, policies aim to expand care services and facilities to assist women who carry the burden of juggling both paid and unpaid domestic work.

Care policies

Women's role and status as caregivers is one of the main obstacles they face that impedes not just their access to the labour market but also their working conditions and career progression. In this context, there exists a vast body of literature advocating for the effects of the supply of child care on female labour force participation, hours worked and wages obtained. As a result, a growing number of countries in the region have adopted measures in this direction.

Contreras, Puentes & Bravo (2012) found that when women with children under the age of 6 have access to day-care centres close to their home or place of work and when the centre's opening hours match their working hours, this has a positive effect on women's participation, especially in middle class households. Sanchís & Katzkowicz (2014) suggest that the lack of attendance to preschool facilities of children under the age of 4 increases the proportion of women who are inactive because they consequently become fully devoted to housework.

Vegas & Santibáñez (2010) point out the potential impact of programs implemented in the region to improve child care supply and preschool education on female labour force participation. In Colombia, the program *Hogares Comunitarios de Bienestar* fostered the creation of child care centres for children under the age of 6. Attanasio & Vera-Hernández (2004) studied the implementation of this program and found that it increased the employment probability of women from 12% to a staggering 37% as well as the number of hours worked per month in as much as 75 hours. Also, as studied in Berlinski & Galiani (2007), the large expansion of pre-primary school facilities in Argentina between 1991 and 2001 had a positive effect (between 7 to 14 percentage points) on maternal employment. Similarly, Berlinski, Galiani & Mc Ewan (2011) found that by having their youngest offspring attending preschool, mothers were 19,1% more likely to work more than 20 hours a week and an extra 7.8 more hours per week on average.

Moreover, Barros, Olinto, Lunde & Carvalho (2011) analysed the implementation of Early Childhood Development program in Rio de Janeiro (Brazil) which provided free access to child care and found that labour force participation rates were substantially boosted and unemployment rates reduced, especially for newcomers to the labour force. Similarly, Rosero & Oosterbeek (2011) study the impact of child care centres on mothers in Ecuador which resulted in a 22% increase in the probability of them working as well as augmenting their working hours and having a positive and significant effect on household earnings.

It has also been shown in the region that access to at least partially subsidised child care supply has an effect on the amount of hours worked per week. For instance, Ángeles et al. (2011) analysed that in Mexico mothers worked 6 hours more per week and that the probability of getting a job increased by 18%. Calderon (2014) found that women's probability of working went up by 1.8 percentage points and that there was a 4-5% rise in the average earnings of eligible female population.

Nevertheless, there are also other studies that exhibit no correlation between the expansion of child care centres and female labour force participation. A prime example is that of Medrano (2009) and Encina & Martínez (2009) who studied the case of Chile, where Bachelet's administration decided to strongly expand day care facilities. This was done by more than doubling the number of available centres between 2005 and 2007, and no significant effects on labour force participation of poor women were found.

Regarding these *no-effect* reports, possible explanations might be found in the determinants of childcare demand. Along these lines, the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) has explored factors related to household/children/mother's characteristics and the service: the presence of alternative caregivers in the household, which typically reduce the demand for care services (Attanasio & Vera-Hernández, 2004; Connelly, DeGraff, & Levison, 1996; Hallman, Quisumbing, Ruel, & Brière, 2005); children's age, since it increases the probability of enrolment (Leibowitz, Klerman, & Waite, 1992; Schlosser, 2005); distance to childcare centre, which is negatively correlated with labour force participation (Contreras et al., 2012; Urzúa & Veramendi, 2011); and coordination of time schedule of care services with working hours (Contreras et al., 2012).

The latter has been underscored as one the main determinants in child care decision. As a matter of fact, a case study in Belgium showed that it was the second most important criterion women looked for when the time came to choose a care centre for their children (Vandenbroeck, De Visscher, Van Nuffel, & Ferla, 2008). Similarly, in Uruguay an analysis revealed that women in median deciles are the most affected when the timetable of care centres fail to match their working hours. This can be explained by the fact that women from top deciles will have access to private services and those at the bottom tend to be excluded from the labour market in any case (Grupo de Trabajo Interinstitucional, 2012). Moreover, Vandenbroeck & Lazzari (2014) points out that women in the lowest income deciles tend to work during more unconventional hours and therefore require higher flexibility in the opening hours of care services. In this sense, opening care centres for longer hours in order to make them more compatible with working hours could contribute to increased female labour force participation, especially concerning women with lower incomes.

Defeminisation of household management and child care

Paternity and maternity leave is a key policy implemented by governments to deconstruct the role of women as natural caregivers so as to enhance their participation in the workforce. Parental leave is generally strongly biased towards women, which remains in line with the sexual division of labour, and fails to consider less traditional home configurations such as single-parent families and LBGT parenting.

International experience in this topic, led mainly by Nordic countries, suggests the need to change current arrangements surrounding parental leave. To begin with, an equal amount of paternity and maternity leave is essential to effectively redistribute domestic responsibilities within a family and reduce discrimination during recruitment processes. Countries which have proved to be exemplary by providing more than two weeks' paternity leave are Finland, Iceland, Lithuania, Portugal and Slovenia (Addati, Cassirer, & Gilchrist, 2014).

However, despite evolving paternity leave schemes, a common global trait is that fathers have a right to choose whether they want to make use of this benefit. This too often leads to situations where men decide not to take advantage of the full paternity leave offered to them, thus leaving women stuck in their position as natural caregivers. As a result, an option would be to introduce compulsory paternity leave to ensure that both fathers and mothers share childcare responsibilities equally and that men are involved in the critical early stages of an infant's development (Addati et al., 2014).

An alternative approach is the promotion of family leave which stipulates a specific number of days that any of the two parents can choose to use. Evidence suggests that such policies are crucial in order to achieve gender equality but, as pointed out in Rossin-Slater, Ruhm & Waldfogel (2013), it is important that they be coupled with necessary incentive schemes to attain an equal distribution of parental leave between men and women. One such incentive scheme, described in Addati, Cassirer, & Gilchrist (2014), is to establish a minimum amount of nontransferable days that if not used by the father will be lost. Sweden adopted this idea in 1995 to avoid women using up most parental leave days. Using Sweden as a case study, Johansson (2010) analysed the differing effects that personal and spousal parental leave could have on earnings. He found that although personal leave has a negative impact on the future earnings of both parents, spousal leave in fact positively affects mother's future wages.

Certainly, any parental leave scheme must be coupled with the provision of care services not only to foster male participation but also to facilitate women's return to the labour market.

Education and training

Nowadays, there still are several obstacles preventing women from accessing education. Amongst other structural problems these include, poverty, sexual division of labour and economic and financial barriers. However, empirical evidence and case studies from across the world indicate that there exist a set of interventions, applicable at different levels of the educational system, which could reduce gender educational gaps.

To begin with, actions designed to close gender gaps at the primary level typically focus on targeting inequality of access to primary schools. This corresponds with a broad consensus, across different schools of thought, that the universalisation of primary schools has a positive impact on gender inequalities and children's well-being. Moreover, evidence suggests that the cost of education is one of the main barriers individuals face in accessing formal education (In this regard, Bhalotra, Harttgen, & Klasen (2015), Riphahn (2012), Mukherjee & Chandrashekhar (2004)).

Consequently, as shown by Chorny et al. (2014), several countries have scrapped tuition fees at the primary level, contributing to reducing gender educational gaps and having a positive effect on future earnings, life expectancy, infant mortality rate and access to basic services. A successful example was the "Universal Primary Education" program, conducted in 1997 by the government of Uganda. The program aimed to remove all tuition fees in primary level institutions and, as demonstrated by Deininger (2003), it was effective in reducing gender inequalities in primary school attendance for girls and boys.

Similarly, as emphasized by UNESCO (2012), secondary school policies are also principally designed to increase both male and female attendance rates. It has been analysed that girl's attendance rate is even lower at the secondary than the primary level. However, the report suggests that these rates vary widely across countries depending on the level of income, making it paramount to focus on reducing educational gender gaps in low and middle income countries to improve women's wellbeing.

Scholarships are an important tool used to counter female underrepresentation in certain educational fields, particularly for STEM degrees. The government of Malaysia, supported by UNESCO, implemented a successful policy of handing out scholarships to tackle female underrepresentation in these areas. It has been so effective that the majority of graduates in Malaysia in technology related degrees, at university level, are women (Curriculum Development Division, 2016).

Other strategies designed to encourage greater female participation in STEM degrees in other countries have also demonstrated positive effects. However, the common agreement is that issues on women's social representation need to be addressed right from the early stages of childhood. For example, Stoeger et al (2013) demonstrate that online tutoring programs in STEM subjects aimed at girls and the active promotion of STEM degrees and potential jobs to increase girls knowledge about these opportunities have positively influenced women's interest in this field. Yet, Master et al. (2017) argue that although positive experiences in programming or robotics heighten women's motivation for this area, it does not affect prior conceptions about women's abilities in STEM fields or the stereotype of feminized career for girls.

To summarize, the evidence presented in this paper suggests that taking action along these lines can contribute to reducing the disproportionate absence of women in traditionally-male degrees and industries. As previously mentioned, diminishing the under-representation of women in certain areas, can deconstruct female stereotypes and social representations related to historically feminized areas. However, it is also important to enhance policies that aim to universalize the access to primary and, specifically, secondary school for both girls and boys.

Conclusion

To conclude, our current society is still a long way from achieving gender equality. Women across the world continuously experience different forms of discrimination and disadvantages. These include obstacles to entering the labour market, poor working conditions (such as being sub-employed or working in unregistered jobs), lack of full-time employment due to the unequal distribution of unpaid work, occupational and vertical segregation and wage gaps, amongst others. As a matter of fact, the World Economic Forum (2017) argues that women's situation actually declined for the second year running in 2017 and that if this current trend continues, it will take another 100 years to close the overall global gender gap.

The main purpose of this policy brief is to examine gender inequality from differing perspectives and to make the case that gender gaps in the labour market not only infringe on human's rights but also hinder human development and growth.

Evidence shows that higher female participation in both boards and managerial positions are associated with better financial performance on several financial measures (Catalyst Group, 2011; International Finance Corporation, 2015; Noland et al., 2016) and with higher employee productivity (Cuberes & Teignier-Baqué, 2011a). However, female middle managers represent a source of potential leadership talent (Alexander Mann Solutions, 2013) and for this reason it is also crucial to develop and sustain high-performing female talent and to create the necessary conditions for these talented women to progress up the career ladder.

Nevertheless, it is worth noting the time lag between the moment a company starts carrying a diversity agenda and the materialisation of improvements in employee productivity. Additionally, capitalizing on the benefits of gender diversity might need to be handled differently depending on the industry (Ali et al., 2011).

From a macroeconomic perspective, gender equality is associated with boosting both human development and economic growth. McKinsey Global Institute (2015) estimate that if women were to participate on an equal level to men in the labour market (assuming identical participation rates, number of hours worked and distribution across sectors) it could inject a further \$28 trillion into the annual global GDP by 2025.

A specifically noteworthy finding by the McKinsey Global Institute (2015)'s study is that closing gender gaps will be of greatest benefit in emerging and developing regions, as the gap is so wide that reducing it will have a much greater impact on incremental GDP opportunities. Another benefit of closing gender gaps for emerging and developing regions is the positive effect that it can have on both current and future poverty reduction rates (Sinha et al., 2007).

In this context, this work reviews several policies and good practices that have been implemented across the world in an attempt to close gender gaps and which would be advisable to imitate. These have broadly been split between those that have a long-term goal of deconstructing cultural beliefs which cause gender inequality and the sexual division of labour, whilst others have more specific and short-term goals to increase female labour force participation. Short term policies include: improving female working conditions, breaking occupational and vertical segregation and tackling the issue of care responsibilities, which to this day remain one the greatest obstacles in the way of gender equality. In our view, an effective way of solving the problem of care responsibilities would entail introducing short term objectives to help women manage both their working life and household responsibilities. These should come simultaneously with longer term goals to 'defeminise' domestic duties altogether so that this heavy burden no longer falls exclusively on women in the future.

Bibliography

- Addati, L., Cassirer, N., & Gilchrist, K. (2014). *Maternity and paternity at work: Law and practice across the world*. International Labour Office.
- Ali, M., Kulik, C. ., & Metz, I. (2011). The gender diversity-performance relationship in services and manufacturing organizations. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1464–1485.
- Ángeles, G., Gadsden, P., Galiani, S., Gertler, P., Herrera, A., Kariger, P., & Seira, E. (2011). Evaluación de impacto del programa estancias infantiles para apoyar a madres trabajadoras. *México*, DF.
- Attanasio, O., & Vera-Hernández, M. (2004). Medium-and long run effects of nutrition and child care: evaluation of a community nursery programme in rural Colombia.
- Barros, R., Olinto, P., Lunde, T., & Carvalho, M. (2011). The impact of access to free childcare on women's labor market outcomes: evidence from a randomized trial in low-income neighborhoods of Rio de Janeiro. In World Bank Economists' Forum.
- Beaman, L., Duflo, E., Pande, R., & Topalova, P. (2012). Female leadership raises aspirations and educational attainment for girls: A policy experiment in India. *Science*, *335*(6068), 582–586.
- Berlinski, S., & Galiani, S. (2007). The effect of a large expansion of pre-primary school facilities on preschool attendance and maternal employment. *Labour Economics*, 14(3), 665–680.
- Berlinski, S., Galiani, S., & Mc Ewan, P. J. (2011). Preschool and maternal labor market outcomes: Evidence from a regression discontinuity design. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 59(2), 313–344.
- Berniell, L. (2016). Más habilidades para el trabajo, más habilidades para la vida. Retrieved from http://scioteca.caf.com/bitstream/handle/123456789/936/RED2016-16sep.pdf?sequence=5&isAllowed=y
- Bhalotra, S., Harttgen, K., & Klasen, S. (2015). The impact of school fees on schooling outcomes and the intergenerational transmission of education. *University of Bristol, United Kingdom*.
- Blackden, M., Canagarajah, S., Klasen, S., & Lawson, D. (2006). Gender and Growth in Sub-Saharan Africa: Issues and Evidence. Research Paper No. 2006/37, United Nations University UNU. Helsinki.
- Bloom, D. E., & Canning, D. (2004). Global Demographic Change: Dimensions and Economic Significance. Nber Working Paper Series. https://doi.org/10.3386/w10817
- Booz & Company. (2012). Empowering the Third Billion: Women and the World of Work in 2012. Retrieved from https://www.strategyand.pwc.com/media/uploads/Strategyand_Empowering-the-Third-Billion_Full-Report.pdf
- Bruckmüller, S., Ryan, M. K., Haslam, S. A., & Peters, K. (2013). Ceilings, Cliffs, and Labyrinths: Exploring Metaphors forWorkplace Gender Discrimination. *The SAGE Handbook of Gender and Psychology*, 450.
- Buvinic, M., & Gupta, G. R. (1997). Female-Headed Households and Female-Maintained Families: Are They Worth Targeting to Reduce Poverty in Developing Countries? *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 45(2), 259–280. Retrieved from https://econpapers.repec.org/RePEc:ucp:ecdecc:v:45:y:1997:i:2:p:259-80
- Calderon, G. (2014). The effects of child care provision in Mexico. Working Papers, Banco de México.
- Catalyst Group. (2011). The bottom line: corporate performance and women's representation on boards: 2004-2008. Retrieved from http://www.catalyst.org/system/files/the_bottom_line_corporate_performance_and_women%27s _representation_on_boards_%282004-2008%29.pdf

- Chaudhry, I. S., & Rahman, S. (2009). The impact of gender inequality in education on rural poverty in Pakistan: An empirical analysis. *European Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Sciences*, 15(1), 174–188.
- Chorny, N. de G., Raub, A., Perry, N., Winfrey, E. V., Looze, J., Savage, K., ... Heymann, J. (2014). FACILITATING GIRLS' ACCESS TO QUALITY EDUCATION: GLOBAL FINDINGS ON TUITION-FREE AND COMPULSORY EDUCATION.
- Chowdhury, S. (2005). Demographic diversity for building an effective entrepreneurial team: is it important? *Journal of Business Venturing*, 20(6), 727–746.
- Citigroup. (2017). Women in the economy II. Retrieved from https://ir.citi.com/rxehymXStWqV7Y6S58ExJLPdJPjqZicwdoxqT%2Fc0qDsBMFxbL%2FzcJiG%2Fg KE%2BRxwHcad8oQrgD1w%3D
- Connelly, R., DeGraff, D. S., & Levison, D. (1996). Women's employment and child care in Brazil. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 44(3), 619–656.
- Contreras, D., Puentes, E., & Bravo, D. (2012). Female labor supply and child care supply in Chile. *Informe Técnico. Documento de Trabajo*, (370).
- Credit Suisse Research Institute. (2014). "The CS Gender 3000: Women in Senior Manangement. Zurich. Retrieved from https://publications.creditsuisse.com/tasks/render/file/index.cfm?fileid=8128F3C0-99BC-22E6-838E2A5B1E4366DF
- Cuberes, D., & Teignier- Baqué, M. (2011a). A Model of Talent Allocation under Gender Inequality.
- Cuberes, D., & Teignier- Baqué, M. (2011b). Gender inequality and Economic Growth.
- Cuberes, D., & Teignier, M. (2016). Aggregate effects of gender gaps in the labor market: A quantitative estimate. *Journal of Human Capital*, 10(1), 1–32.
- Deininger, K. (2003). Does cost of schooling affect enrollment by the poor? Universal primary education in Uganda. *Economics of Education Review*, 22(3), 291–305. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7757(02)00053-5
- Dezsö, C. L., & Ross, D. G. (2012). Does female representation in top management improve firm performance? A panel data investigation. *Strategic Management Journal*, 33(9), 1072–1089.
- Díaz-García, C., González-Moreno, A., & Jose Sáez-Martínez, F. (2013). Gender diversity within R&D teams: Its impact on radicalness of innovation. *Innovation*, 15(2), 149–160.
- Dollar, D., & Gatti, R. (1999). Gender inequality, income, and growth: are good times good for women? Washington, DC.
- Dosi, G. (1988). Sources, procedures, and microeconomic effects of innovation. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 1120–1171.
- Encina, J., & Martínez, C. (2009). Efecto de una mayor cobertura de salas cuna en la participación laboral femenina: evidencia de Chile. *Santiago: Universidad de Chile*.
- Esteve-Volart, B. (2009). Gender discrimination and growth: Theory and evidence from India.
- European Comission. (2008). *Diversity management in 2008: Research with the European Business Test Panel*. Retrieved from http://www.iegd.org/pdf/Task 1- EBTP.pdf
- Fenwick, G. D., & Neal, D. J. (2001). Effect of gender composition on group performance. Gender, Work & Organization, 8(2), 205–225.
- Goldin, C., & Rouse, C. (2000). Orchestrating impartiality: The impact of "blind" auditions on female

musicians. American Economic Review, 90(4), 715-741.

- Green, E. C., Halperin, D. T., Nantulya, V., & Hogle, J. A. (2006). Uganda's HIV prevention success: the role of sexual behavior change and the national response. *AIDS and Behavior*, 10(4), 335–346.
- Grupo de Trabajo Interinstitucional. (2012). Una sociedad que cuida.
- Hakura, M. D. S., Hussain, M. M., Newiak, M. M., Thakoor, V., & Yang, M. F. (2016). *Inequality, Gender Gaps* and Economic Growth: Comparative Evidence for Sub-Saharan Africa. International Monetary Fund.
- Hallman, K., Quisumbing, A. R., Ruel, M., & Brière, B. de la. (2005). Mothers' work and child care: findings from the urban slums of Guatemala City. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 53(4), 855–885.
- Hiscox, M. J., Oliver, T., Ridgway, M., Arcos-Holzinger, L., Warren, A., & Willis, A. (2017). Going Blind to see more Clearly: Unconscious Bias in Australian Public Service Shortlisting Processes. Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet, Canberra, Australian Capital Territory.
- IDEA, & BID. (2015). Partidos políticos y paridad: un desafío de la democracia en América Latina. Retrieved from https://publications.iadb.org/bitstream/handle/11319/7356/int320.PDF?sequence=1
- ILO. (2013). Domestic workers across the world: Global and regional statistics and the extent of legal protection. International Labour Office Geneva.
- International Finance Corporation. (2015). Gender Diversity in Jordan: Research on the Impact of Gender Diversity on the Economic Performance of Companies in Jordan. Retrieved from https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/e93318004a0d7ff195cfb7e54d141794/IFC_Jordan_Gender _Report_Sep_2015.pdf?MOD=AJPERES
- International Labour Organization. (2017). World Employment Social Outlook. Trends for Women 2017. Retrieved from http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_541211.pdf
- Johansson, E.-A. (2010). The effect of own and spousal parental leave on earnings. Working paper//IFAU-Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation.
- Kelley, A. C. (1988). Economic consequences of population change in the Third World. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 26(4), 1685–1728.
- Kelley, A. C., & Schmidt, R. M. (2005). Evolution of recent economic-demographic modeling: A synthesis. *Journal of Population Economics*, 18(2), 275–300.
- Klasen, S. (2000). Does gender inequality reduce growth and development? Evidence from cross-country regressions.
- Klasen, S. (2002). Low schooling for girls, slower growth for all? Cross-country evidence on the effect of gender inequality in education on economic development. *The World Bank Economic Review*, 16(3), 345–373.
- Klasen, S., & Lamanna, F. (2009). The impact of gender inequality in education and employment on economic growth: new evidence for a panel of countries. *Feminist Economics*, 15(3), 91–132.
- Klasen, S., & Wink, C. (2003). "Missing women": Revisiting the debate. Feminist Economics, 9(2-3), 263-299.
- Knowles, S., Lorgelly, P. K., & Owen, P. D. (2002). Are Educational Gender Gaps a Brake on Economic Development? Some Cross-Country Empirical Evidence. Oxford Economic Papers, 54(1), 118–149. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/3488655
- Kosunen, N., Asikainen, A.-R., Gústafsdóttir, G., Haggrén, H., & Lång, K. (2017). Regulation of Gender-Discriminatory Advertising in the Nordic Countries. Nordic Council of Ministers.

- Krook, M. L., & Zetterberg, P. (2014). INTRODUCTION: GENDER QUOTAS AND WOMEN'S REPRESENTATION NEW DIRECTIONS IN RESEARCH. Taylor & Francis.
- Kuznets, S. (1967). Population and economic growth. *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, 111(3), 170–193.
- LaCroix, J. M., Snyder, L. B., Huedo-Medina, T. B., & Johnson, B. T. (2014). Effectiveness of mass media interventions for HIV prevention, 1986–2013: a meta-analysis. JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, 66, S329–S340.
- Lavine, H., Sweeney, D., & Wagner, S. H. (1999). Depicting women as sex objects in television advertising: Effects on body dissatisfaction. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 25(8), 1049–1058.
- Lawson, D., Mckay, A., & Okidi, J. (2006). Poverty persistence and transitions in Uganda: A combined qualitative and quantitative analysis. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 42(7), 1225–1251. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220380600884191
- Leibowitz, A., Klerman, J. A., & Waite, L. J. (1992). Employment of new mothers and child care choice: Differences by children's age. *Journal of Human Resources*, 112–133.
- Master, A., Cheryan, S., Moscatelli, A., & Meltzoff, A. N. (2017). Programming experience promotes higher STEM motivation among first-grade girls. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 160, 92–106. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2017.03.013
- McKinsey Global Institute. (2015). The Power of Parity: How Advancing Women's Equality can add \$12 Trillion to Global Growth. Retrieved from https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Global Themes/Employment and Growth/How advancing womens equality can add 12 trillion to global growth/MGI Power of parity_Full report_September 2015.ashx

Medrano, P. (2009). Public day care and female labor force participation: evidence from Chile. Santiago.

- MERCER. (2014). When women Thrive, Businesses thrive.
- Mukherjee, A., & Chandrashekhar, S. (2004). Does Cost of Primary Education Matter: Evidence from Rural India. *Mimeograph. New Delhi: Institute for Studies in Industrial Development*.
- Noland, M., Moran, T., & Kotschwar, B. (2016). Is gender diversity profitable? Evidence from a global survey.
- ONU MUJERES. (2017). EL PROGRESO DE LAS MUJERES EN AMÉRICA LATINA Y EL CARIBE 2017.
- Orazem, P. F., & King, E. M. (2007). Schooling in developing countries: The roles of supply, demand and government policy. *Handbook of Development Economics*, 4, 3475–3559.
- Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). (2012). Gender Equality in Education, Employment and Entrepreneurship: Final Report to the MCM 2012. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/employment/50423364.pdf
- Østergaard, C. R., Timmermans, B., & Kristinsson, K. (2011). Does a different view create something new? The effect of employee diversity on innovation. *Research Policy*, 40(3), 500–509.
- Oswick, C., & Noon, M. (2014). Discourses of diversity, equality and inclusion: trenchant formulations or transient fashions? *British Journal of Management*, 25(1), 23–39.
- Pelled, L. H., Eisenhardt, K. M., & Xin, K. R. (1999). Exploring the black box: An analysis of work group diversity, conflict and performance. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 44(1), 1–28.
- Quintana-García, C., & Benavides-Velasco, C. A. (2008). Innovative competence, exploration and exploitation: The influence of technological diversification. *Research Policy*, *37*(3), 492–507.

- Ramanayake, S. S., & Ghosh, T. (2017). Role of gender gap in economic growth: Analysis on developing countries versus OECD countries. *Indira Gandhi Institute of Development Research: Mumbai, India*.
- Riphahn, R. T. (2012). Effect of secondary school fees on educational attainment. *The Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, 114(1), 148–176.
- Rosero, J., & Oosterbeek, H. (2011). Trade-offs between different early childhood interventions: Evidence from Ecuador.
- Rossin-Slater, M., Ruhm, C. J., & Waldfogel, J. (2013). The effects of California's paid family leave program on mothers' leave-taking and subsequent labor market outcomes. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 32(2), 224–245.
- Sanchís, N., & Katzkowicz, N. (2014). Obstáculos para la inserción laboral equitativa y el empoderamiento económico de las mujeres.
- Schlosser, A. (2005). Public preschool and the labor supply of Arab mothers: Evidence from a natural experiment. *Manuscript, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem*.
- Schultz, T. P. (1997). Demand for children in low income countries. *Handbook of Population and Family Economics*, 1, 349–430.
- Seierstad, C., & Opsahl, T. (2011). For the few not the many? The effects of affirmative action on presence, prominence, and social capital of women directors in Norway. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 27(1), 44–54.
- Sen, A. (1990). More than 100 million women are missing. New York, 61-66.
- Shaffer, P. (1998). Gender, poverty and deprivation: Evidence from the Republic of Guinea. World Development, 26(12), 2119–2135. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(98)00114-4
- Shapiro, J. R., & Williams, A. M. (2012). The role of stereotype threats in undermining girls' and women's performance and interest in STEM fields. Sex Roles, 66(3–4), 175–183.
- Siddique, M. A. B. (1998). Gender issues in poverty alleviation: a case study of Bangladesh. International Journal of Social Economics, 25(6/7/8), 1095–1111. https://doi.org/10.1108/03068299810212487
- Sinha, N., Raju, D., & Morrison, A. (2007). Gender equality, poverty and economic growth.
- Stoeger, H., Duan, X., Schirner, S., Greindl, T., & Ziegler, A. (2013). The effectiveness of a one-year online mentoring program for girls in STEM. *Computers & Education*, 69, 408-418. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2013.07.032
- Todaro, R., Godoy, L., & Abramo, L. (2002). Desempeño laboral de hombres y mujeres: opinan los empresarios. *Cadernos Pagu*, (17-18), 197-236.
- UNESCO. (2012). Education for All Global Monitoring Report.
- Urzúa, S., & Veramendi, G. (2011). *The impact of out-of-home childcare centers on early childhood development*. Inter-American Development Bank.
- Van der Vegt, G. S., & Janssen, O. (2003). Joint impact of interdependence and group diversity on innovation. *Journal of Management*, 29(5), 729–751.
- Vandenbroeck, M., De Visscher, S., Van Nuffel, K., & Ferla, J. (2008). Mothers' search for infant child care: The dynamic relationship between availability and desirability in a continental European welfare state. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 23(2), 245–258.
- Vandenbroeck, M., & Lazzari, A. (2014). Accessibility of early childhood education and care: A state of affairs. European Early Childhood Education Research Journal, 22(3), 327–335.

- Vegas, E., & Santibáñez, L. (2010). La promesa del desarrollo en la primera infancia en América Latina y el Caribe. Retrieved from http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTLACINSPANISH/Resources/La_promesa_del_desarrollo _en_la_primera_infancia_web.pdf
- World Bank Group. (2001). *Engendering Development*. Retrieved from http://siteresources.worldbank.org/PGLP/Resources/Engendering_Development.pdf

World Economic Forum. (2016). The Future of Jobs.

- World Economic Forum. (2017). *The Global Gender Gap Report*. Retrieved from http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_GGGR_2017.pdf
- Zahra, S. A., & George, G. (2002). Absorptive Capacity: A Review, Reconceptualization, and Extension. *The Academy of Management Review*, 27(2), 185–203. https://doi.org/10.2307/4134351

About the authors

Caterina Brest Lopez: Economic Development Program Coordinator. Msc. in Economics at Barcelona Graduate School of Economics and Pompeu Fabra University. Bachelor in Economics at Torcuato Di Tella University. Associate professor in Microeconomic course at Torcuato Di Tella University. Worked at Ministry of Economics in sectorial employment, unregistered work and in developing macroeconomic monitoring indicators. Fields of interest include Labour Market, Macroeconomics and Economic Development.

Gala Díaz Langou: Director of the Social Protection Program. MA in Public Policy and Development Management (Georgetown University) and a BA in International Studies (Universidad Torcuato Di Tella). Gala is currently Co-Chair of the T20 Gender Economic Equity Taskforce and Woman 20 (W20) Delegate. She has worked as an international consultant on women's and children's rights for several UN agencies and other international organizations and governments of the Latin American Region. She participates in advisory bodies of several organizations and has authored over 25 publications on social policy in Latin America, and a book on Early Childhood in Argentina.

To cite this document, please use: Brest Lopez, C. and Díaz Langou, G. (2018). *The economic case for reducing gender gaps in the labour market*. Buenos Aires: CIPPEC.

CIPPEC encourages the use and dissemination of its documents for non-commercial purposes. **CIPPEC's** publications are free to use and can be downloaded from <u>www.cippec.org</u>.

The authors' opinion may not coincide with CIPPEC's institutional perspective on the issue

This work was carried out with the support of GIZ and W20

Notes





CIPPEC®

CIPPEC (Centro de Implementación de Políticas Públicas para la Equidad y el Crecimiento) es una organización independiente, apartidaria y sin fines de lucro que trabaja por un Estado justo, democrático y eficiente que mejore la vida de las personas. Para ello concentra sus esfuerzos en analizar y promover políticas públicas que fomenten la equidad y el crecimiento en la Argentina. Su desafío es traducir en acciones concretas las mejores ideas que surjan en las áreas de Desarrollo Social, Desarrollo Económico, e Instituciones y Gestión Pública a través de los programas de Educación, Protección Social, Instituciones Políticas, Gestión Pública, Monitoreo y Evaluación, Desarrollo Económico y Ciudades.